IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT **APPELLANT SYSTEM OF MISSISSIPPI (PERS)** CAUSE NO. 2010-SA-00483 **VERSUS** SUSAN MCDONNELL **APPELLEE** BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

Katie Lester Trundt Special Assistant Attorney General Public Employees' Retirement System 429 Mississippi Street Jackson, Mississippi 39201-1005

Email: KTrundt@pers.ms.gov Telephone:

(601) 359-9329

(601) 359-3680

Fax. No. (601) 359-2285 Mississippi Bar No.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CAUSE NO. 2010-SA-00489

SUSAN MCDONNELL

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. The Circuit Court erred in reweighing the evidence by finding the order of the Board of Trustees of the Public Employees' Retirement System is unsupported by substantial evidence.
- II. The Circuit Court erred in holding that the decision of the Board of Trustees of the Public Employees' Retirement System is arbitrary and capricious.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE¹

This matter involves an appeal filed by the Appellant, Public Employees' Retirement System, seeking review of the December 10, 2009, Order of the Circuit Court reversing the Order of the Board of Trustees of the Public Employees' Retirement System (hereinafter "PERS") entered on August 26, 2008. (Vol. II, R. 13.) The Board adopted the Proposed Statement of Facts, Conclusions of Law, and Recommendation of the Disability Appeals Committee to deny Ms. McDonnell's request for payment of disability as defined in Miss. Code Ann. §25-11-113 (Supp. 2009). This appeal is authorized and governed pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §25-11-120 (Rev. 2006).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Susan McDonnell was a computer discovery teacher, instructing in keyboarding, word processing, data base and desktop publishing for Biloxi Schools. She had 29 years of service credit when she terminated her employment on August 31, 2007. (Vol. II, R. 33,93). On October 12, 2007, Ms. McDonnell applied for Non- Duty Related Disability. (Vol. II, R. 95 – 98).

Ms. McDonnell has seen numerous physicians for, and been diagnosed with, various medical conditions over the last ten years, including: obesity (Vol. II, R. 113), some tennis elbow (Vol. II, R. 193-4), knee pain (Vol. II, R. 192, 196), heel pain (Vol. II, R. 188), bursitis in her hip, (Vol. II, R. 186) back pain, (Vol. II, R.161) for which she was non-compliant with treatment and abandoned her physical therapy (Vol. II, R. 198-

¹ Reference to the Record is indicated by "Vol" for the volume and "R." followed by the appropriate page number.

9), tendonitis for which she was non-compliant and abandoned her physical therapy (Vol. II, R. 198-9), hypertension (Vol. II, R. 111, 155) and diabetes (Vol. II, R. 111, 155)

The Committee found the following medical chronology relevant to the current complaint of osteoarthritis: While Mrs. McDonnell had been experiencing some pain in her ankles over the last 5 years, it was only in March 2007, four months before terminating her employment, that she first described having severe problems with her ankles. (Vol. II, R. 16). At that point she was seen by Dr. Theodore F. Jordan who prescribed her an oral steroid and referred her to Dr. Dudley S. Burwell. Dr. Jordan also completed a Physician's Form 7 stating that Ms. McDonnell had moderate degenerative joint disease (DJD), and that he recommended that she avoid prolonged standing or walking for more than 20 minutes at a time. (Vol. II, R. 20).

On March 30, 2007, Ms. McDonnell was seen by Dr. Burwell, who diagnosed her as having DJD of the right ankle, with tendonitis, and administered a Cortisone injection. (Vol. II, R. 20). Ms. McDonnell returned to Dr. Burwell on May 9, 2007, complaining of some swelling in her ankle, although the Cortisone shot had given her relief from the pain. He injected the ankle again, and ordered rheumatoid tests. (Vol. II, R. 20).

On June 4, 2007, Ms. McDonnell visited Dr. Douglas C. Leavengood, her internist, and reported that she was experiencing pain, this time in her left foot. Dr. Leavengood changed her medication in an attempt to rule out gout, and prescribed her with antibiotics for an unrelated condition. (Vol. II, R. 20). Dr. Levangood also completed a Physician's Form 7 stating that while she was experiencing severe foot pain, Ms. McDonnell would need to sit more than 50% of the day. (Vol. II, R. 20 – 21).

On Oct. 3, 2007, Ms. McDonnell saw Dr. Burwell again. Her diagnosis remained DJD of the ankles, and she was administered another Cortisone shot in her right ankle. (Vol. II, R. 21). Dr. Burwell also completed a Physician's Form 7 stating that Ms. McDonnell had DJD of the ankles, was experiencing some pain and swelling, and should limit her walking, standing, and climbing (Vol. II, R. 21), although by this time she had already terminated her employment. (Vol. II, R. 15). Dr. Burwell injected Ms. McDonnell's left ankle with Cortisone for the first time on December 19, 2007 (Vol. II, R. 21), three and one-half months after she terminated her employment. Over the next three months, Dr. Burwell injected each of her ankles once. (Vol. II, R. 21).

Pursuant to her claim for disability, Ms. McDonnell underwent an Independent Medical Examination on January 28, 2008, by Dr. Phillip J. Blount, an orthopedic specialist with University Orthopedic Associates. (Vol. II, R. 21). She reported that she was unable to work due to ankle pain, and that she periodically used a cane, as well as a motorized scooter during trips to the shopping mall. (Vol. II, R. 21). She also reported that she was dieting and had lost 25 pounds, and had been performing some therapy in her swimming pool at her home. (Vol. II, R. 21, 111). Dr. Blount noted that Ms. McDonnell was able to heel-to-toe walk, that all major muscle groups and reflexes were normal, and although there was some tenderness noted, the full range of motion was present in both ankles. (Vol. II, R. 21).

Dr. Blount concluded that Ms. McDonnell had bilateral ankle osteoarthritis, lumbar spondylosis and status post two surgeries, and general issues such as hypertension, diabetes and obesity. (Vol. II, R. 21). Ms. McDonnell has testified that she stands five feet five inches tall and weighs two-hundred and thirty pounds. (Vol. II, R.

53). Based on his examination of Ms. McDonnell and her medical records, the Committee noted that Dr. Blount opined that she was at no risk to continue working as per her job description (Vol. II, R. 21 – 22), but noted that she had not received a comprehensive treatment regimen for her osteoarthritis, and had either not received, or had failed to comply with, physical therapy for her foot, ankle or orthotic trail. (Vol. II, R. 22).

In an undated letter, Ms. McDonnell's internist, Dr. Leavengood deferred to Dr. Blount's opinion regarding the risk of any damage resulting from returning to work, but argued that her pain would prohibit her from performing her teaching duties. (Vol. II, R. 86).

On March 6, 2008, Ms. McDonnell was notified by the PERS Medical Review Board that her Application for Disability Retirement was denied. (Vol. II, R. 215). Ms. McDonnell appealed this decision, and a hearing was held before the Disability Appeals Committee on June 2, 2008, where Ms. McDonnell appeared and was represented by counsel. (Vol. II, R. 26). Based on the testimony presented at the hearing and the documentation that now comprises the record on appeal, the Disability Appeals Committee, comprised of two physicians and a chief hearing officer who is a nurse/attorney, concluded that while there was credible and objective medical evidence that Ms. McDonnell had DJD of the ankles, there was no such evidence that the condition was so severe that she is disabled from performing her duties as a technology teacher. (Vol. II, R. 22).

The Committee noted that her pain has been controlled by Cortisone injections administered once every few months, (Vol. II, R. 23, 24), and that she had made no

request for accommodations to her employer before terminating her employment, even though the Committee noted such accommodations as using her scooter in a room which appeared large enough to accommodate a scooter or link the student's computer monitors to her desk (Vol. II, R. 23,80,81). Finally, the committee noted that regarding the conflicting opinions of Drs. Blount and Leavengood, they found Dr. Blount's opinion regarding her condition more persuasive as his specialty is orthopedics, as opposed to Dr. Leavengood, who is an internist with a specialty in allergies. (Vol. II, R. 24, 86).

Accordingly, the Appeals Committee recommended to the Board of Trustees that Ms. McDonnell's request for Non-Duty Related disability benefits be denied. (Vol. II, R. 25). The Board of Trustees adopted the Appeals Committee's findings, conclusions, and recommendations by Order denying Ms. McDonnell disability benefits issued August 26, 2008. (Vol. II, R. 13). Ms. McDonnell appealed this decision to the Circuit Court and the Circuit Court reversed PERS' Order, hence this appeal.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Order of the PERS Board of Trustees is supported by substantial evidence. PERS does not seek to deny that Ms. McDonnell does not experience pain, but under Mississippi Law – Miss. Code Ann. Section 25-11-113 – in order for Ms. McDonnell to receive disability payments, she has to prove that the condition which causes her pain, and upon which she bases her claim, is *disabling* and that the disability was the direct cause of her withdrawal from state service. The record, however, shows that Ms. McDonnell's pain did not interfere with her work, let alone disable her or directly cause her to withdraw from service. To the contrary, Ms. McDonnell herself admits that the

pain is controlled by a simple Cortisone shot administered once every two-to-six months (Vol. II, R. 43, 49). The PERS Board of Trustees took into consideration all of the medical evidence offered by Ms. McDonnell, and found that this evidence did not establish that Ms. McDonnell's ankle pain is disabling and therefore, she is not entitled to a disability benefit from the State of Mississippi.

Furthermore, the requirement that medical evidence be both credible and objective is not in violation of PERS authorizing statute. Miss. Code Ann. Section 25-11-113(1)(a), and PERS Regulation Chapter 45A, Sections 104(2)-(4)) clearly mandate that the PERS Medical Board may make a determination for or against disability status only after a review of medical evidence. Just as it is fundamental to the interests of every contributing PERS member and PERS itself that medical evidence furnished by a member to enable them to draw disability payments must be credible, it is fundamental that it be objective as well. While it is true that pain is a subjective condition, PERS, has recognized that there can be, and must be, objective medical evidence; evidence of a diagnosis based on objective medical science that adequately supports the subjective complaint of pain, and convinces the Board that the pain is disabling. PERS submits this is only rational, or in the alternative, at least more rational than the "subjective evidence".

ARGUMENT

INTRODUCTION

PERS was established in 1953 to provide retirement and other benefits to covered employees of the state, its political subdivisions and instrumentalities. Chapter 299, Mississippi Laws of 1952.

In addition to service retirement benefits, disability benefits are provided for members who meet the statutory requirements for such benefits. There are two categories of disability benefits available to PERS members who became a member before July 1, 2007: (1) a regular disability benefit payable to members who have at least four (4) years of creditable service and who become disabled for any reason, and (2) a hurt-on-the-job disability benefit, payable to members regardless of the number of years of creditable service, where the member becomes disabled due to an injury occurring in the line of duty. Miss. Code Ann. §§25-11-113 and 25-11-114 (Supp. 2009).

Applications for disability benefits are reviewed by the PERS Medical Board, which arranges and passes upon all medical examinations for disability purposes. The PERS Medical Board is composed of physicians appointed by the PERS Board of Trustees. Miss. Code Ann. §25-11-119(7) (Supp. 2009). Any person aggrieved by a determination of the PERS Medical Board may request a hearing before the designated hearing officer of the PERS Board of Trustees, pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §25-11-120 (Rev. 2006).

Disability, as defined under PERS law, Miss. Code Ann. §25-11-113, states in pertinent part:

... the inability to perform the usual duties of employment or the incapacity to perform such lesser duties, if any, as the employer, in its discretion, may assign without material reduction in compensation or the incapacity to perform the duties of any employment covered by the Public Employees' Retirement System (Section 25-11-101 et seq.) that is actually offered and is within the same general territorial work area, without material reduction in compensation.

§25-11-113 further provides that:

... in no event shall the disability retirement allowance commence before the termination of the state service, provided that the medical board, after a medical examination, shall certify that the member is mentally or physically incapacitated for the further performance of duty, that such incapacity is likely to be permanent, and that the member should be retired . . .

The question before the PERS Medical Board, the Disability Appeals Committee and the PERS Board of Trustees was whether Ms. McDonnell's claim meets the requirements for the receipt of a disability benefit. The PERS Board of Trustees adopted the recommendation of the Disability Appeals Committee to deny disability benefits. The Order of the Board was incorrectly reversed by the Circuit Court on the basis that the denial of disability benefits is not supported by substantial evidence.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Rule 5.03 of the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice limits review by this Court to a determination of whether the Board of Trustees' decision was: (1) supported by substantial evidence; or (2) was arbitrary or capricious; or (3) was beyond the authority of the Board to make; or (4) violated a statutory or constitutional right of Ms. McDonnell. *Laughlin v. Public Employees' Retirement System*, 11 So.3d

154, 158 (Miss. App. 2009); Public Employees Retirement System v. Dozier, 995 So.2d 136, 138 (Miss. App. 2008); Thomas v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 995 So.2d 115, 118 (Miss. 2008); Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dean, 983 So.2d 335, 339(Miss. App. 2008); Public Employees' Retirement System v. Card, 994 So.2d 239, 242 (Miss. App. 2008); Case v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 973 So.2d 301, 310 (Miss. App. 2008); Brakefield v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 940 So.2d 945, 948 (Miss. App. 2006); Public Employees' Retirement System v. Howard, 905 So.2d 1279, 1284 (Miss. 2005); Public Employees' Retirement System v. Stamps, 898 So.2d 664, 673 (Miss. 2005); Public Employees' Retirement System v. Smith, 880 So.2d 348, 351 (Miss. App. 2004); Public Employees' Retirement System v. Henderson, 867 So.2d 262, 264 (Miss. 2004); Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dishmon, 797 So.2d 888, 891 (Miss. 2001); Byrd v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 774 So 2d 434, 437 (Miss. 2000); Brinston v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 706 So.2d 258, 259 (Miss. 1998).

A reviewing Court may not substitute its judgment for that of the agency rendering the decision and may not reweigh the facts. Brakefield v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 940 So.2d at 948; Public Employees' Retirement System v. Howard, 905 So.2d at 1285; Public Employees' Retirement System v. Stamps, 898 So.2d at 673; Public Employees' Retirement System v. Smith, 880 So.2d at 350; Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dishmon, 797 So.2d at 891; United Cement Company v. Safe Air for the Environment, 558 So.2d 840, 842 (Miss. 1990); Melody Manor Convalescent Center v. Mississippi State Department of Health, 546 So.2d 972, 974 (Miss. 1989) Also see: Public Employees' Retirement System v. Burt, 919 So.2d 1150, 1156 (Miss. App.

2005). In *Mississippi State Tax Commission v. Mississippi-Alabama State Fair*, 222 So 2d 664, 665 (Miss. 1969), the Mississippi Supreme Court stated:

Our Constitution does not permit the judiciary of this state to retry de novo matters on appeal from administrative agencies and are not permitted to make administrative decisions and perform the functions of an administrative agency. Administrative agencies must perform the functions required of them by law. When an administrative agency has performed its function, and has made the determination and entered the order required of it, the parties may then appeal to the judicial tribunal designated to hear the appeal. The appeal is a limited one, however, since the courts cannot enter the field of the administrative agency. [Emphasis added]

In *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Cobb*, 839 So.2d 605, 609 (Miss. App. 2003) the Mississippi Court of Appeals noted: "[I]n administrative matters, the agency, not the reviewing court, sits as finder of fact." In this case there are medical tests and evaluations that Ms. McDonnell has undergone. Several different physicians have reviewed the reports in the file with the medical training to read and assess those documents. The Court in *Cobb* went on to state: "That fact finding duty includes assessing the credibility of witnesses and determining the proper weight to give to a particular witness's testimony." On review by an appellate court it:

is obligated to afford such determinations of credibility in the fact-finding process substantial deference when reviewing an administrative determination on appeal and the court exceeds its authority when it proceeds to reevaluate the evidence and makes its own determination of the trustworthiness of some particular testimony. [Emphasis added] 839 So. 2d 609.

In *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Howard*, 905 So. 2d at 1287, this Court reiterated that "it is for PERS, as fact finder, to determine which evidence is more believable or carries the most weight." The findings of fact by the PERS Board of

Trustees must not be disturbed on appeal "where sustained by substantial evidence." City of Meridian v. Davidson, 211 Miss. 683, 53 So.2d 48, 57 (1951); Harris v. Canton Separate Public School Board of Education, 655 So.2d. 898 (Miss. 1995). As stated by this Court in Davidson, "[t]he underlying and salient reasons for this safe and sane rule need not be repeated here." 53 So.2d at 57. Moreover, a rebuttable presumption exists in favor of PERS' decision, and the burden of proving to the contrary is on Ms. McDonnell. Public Employees' Retirement System v. Howard, 905 So.2d at 1284; Public Employees' Retirement System v. Stamps, 898 So.2d at 673; Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dishmon, 797 So.2d at 891; Brinston v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 706 So.2d at 259; Mississippi State Board of Accountancy v. Gray, 674 So. 2d 1251, 1257 (Miss. 1996); Mississippi Commission on Environmental Quality v. Chickasaw County Board of Supervisors, 621 So.2d 1211, 1215 (Miss. 1993) Also see: Mississippi Hospital Association v. Heckler, 701 F.2d 511, 516 (5th Cir. 1983). In Gray, the Supreme Court held:

A reviewing court cannot substitute its judgment for that of the agency or reweigh the facts of the case. Chancery and Circuit Courts are held to the same standard as this Court when reviewing agency decisions. When we find the lower court has exceeded its authority in overturning an agency decision we will reverse and reinstate the decision. 674 So. 2d at 1253. [Emphasis added]

In Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dishmon, 797 So.2d at 893, the Court stated that "the applicant for disability has the burden of proving to the Medical Board and to the Appeals Committee that he or she is in fact disabled". In Public Employees' Retirement System v. Henderson, 867 So.2d 262, 264 (Miss. App. 2003), the Court citing Doyle v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 808 So.2d 902, 905

(Miss. 2002) noted: "It is not this courts job to determine whether the claimant has presented enough evidence to prove she is disabled, but whether PERS has presented enough evidence to support its finding that the claimant is not disabled." Also See: *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Burt*, 919 So.2d 1150, 1156. (Miss. App. 2005). The Board of Trustees based their decision on the substantial medical evidence presented to them by the Disability Appeals Committee that Ms. McDonnell was not disabled. The substantial medical evidence presented to the Board by the Disability Appeals Committee clearly satisfies PERS' burden.

The Order of the PERS Board of Trustees was supported by substantial evidence, was neither arbitrary nor capricious nor violated any statutory or constitutional right of Ms. McDonnell and, thus, the Order of the Board of Trustees entered August 26, 2008, must be affirmed.

I. The Circuit Court erred in reweighing the evidence by finding the order of the Board of Trustees of the Public Employees' Retirement System denying Ms. McDonnell's claim for disability is unsupported by substantial evidence.

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