IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF MISSISSIPPI (PERS) VERSUS CAUSE NO. 2010-SA-00483 SUSAN MCDONNELL APPELLEE BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Quentin McColgin Attorney for Appellee 1755 Lelia Drive, Suite 303 Jackson, MS 39216 Telephone: (601) 987-4100 MSI

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF MISSISSIPPI (PERS)

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CAUSE NO. 2010-SA-00483

SUSAN MCDONNELL

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

PERS disregarded medical evidence from treating sources because those sources considered Ms. McDonnell's ankle pain in formulating their restriction's on her physical activities. PERS' disregard of this evidence is based on the agency's objective medical evidence standard which PERS interprets as requiring the exclusion from its consideration of subjective medical evidence. The imposition of this stand is contrary to accepted medical practice and statutory authority. It deprives Ms. McDonnell of her right to have essential medical evidence considered in determining her claim for disability and constitutes arbitrary and capricious agency action.

The Circuit Court's holding that there is no substantial evidence supporting PERS' conclusion that Ms. McDonnell is not disabled is correct and should be affirmed. PERS relied upon the opinion of Dr. Blount to counter the proof supplied by the three treating physicians who took into consideration her ankle pain and restricted her standing/walking activities to significantly less than which was required to perform her job duties. Juxtaposed to those opinions is the opinion of Dr. Blount who opined that Ms. McDonnell will not exacerbate the underlying disease process (osteoarthritis) by performing her job duties. These different opinions focus on different causes of disability that are mutually exclusive and proof of disability from one cause (pain) is not negated by proof that another disabling cause is absent.

ARGUMENT

The legal requirement of proving disability is set forth in Miss. Code Ann § 25-11-113(1)

(a) which states:

"...any active member in state service who has at least four years of membership service credit may be retired by the Board of Trustees...provided the medical board, after medical examination shall certify that the member is mentally or physically incapacitated for the further performance of duty, that such incapacity is likely to be permanent and that the member should be retired."

Disability is defined in the same statute as:

"...the inability to perform the usually duties of employment or the incapacity to perform such lesser duties, if any, as the employer, in its discretion, may assign without material reduction in compensation, or the incapacity to perform the duties of any employment covered by the Public Employees' Retirement System that is actually offered and is within the same general territorial work area, without material reduction in compensation."

Miss. Code Ann. § 25-11-113.

The Circuit Court reversed the PERS decision denying Ms. McDonnell's disability because it was not supported by substantial evidence. The overwhelming evidence supports the Circuit Court finding that Ms. McDonnell's ankle condition was disabiling and this disability was the direct cause of her withdrawal from service.

I. PERS DOES NOT HAVE THE AUTHORITY TO LIMIT THE MEDICAL EVIDENCE IT CONSIDERS TO OBJECTIVE MEDICAL EVIDENCE.

The principle issue in this case is whether the imposition of the "objective medical evidence" standard by PERS exceeds its authority and is, therefore, *ultra vires*. This standard is imposed in the agency decision adopted by PERS stating, "the medical evidence supporting disability must be ... objective." (R. 22). This standard is used by the agency to exclude considerations of pain in the evaluation of the functional capacity to perform work-like functions such as standing and walking which is required 95% of the workday to perform Ms.

McDonnell's job duties. (R. 77). The decision considered only the anatomic evaluation of Ms. McDonnell's ankle impairment by orthopedist Blount, who reported Ms. McDonell was "at no risk for continuing her job within her job description. Tolerance is in question and it would be her choice if she wanted to stop teaching." (R. 113).

PERS then found that Ms. McDonnell's ankle impairment was "not severe" and disregarded the three opinions of treating sources, two of which were also orthopedists (Drs. Jordan and Burwell), that submitted functional assessments of Ms. McDonnell's ankle impairment that considered Ms. McDonnell's pain. (R. 22, 164, 181). All three of these treating sources opined that Ms. McDonnell's capacity to stand/walk was limited in duration to substantially less than that required to perform her job duties. (R. 164, 172, 181).

Notwithstanding this latter evidence PERS found: "... [W]hen looking at the most objective medical evidence, the Committee sees that while Mrs. McDonnell has degenerative disease of the ankles, the disease is not severe" (R. 22).

The demonstration of the *ultra vires* nature of this "objective medical evidence" standard begins with consideration of the *Guides To The Evaluation of Permanent Impairments*, 5th Ed., Chicago, IL published by the American Medical Association (Guides), pertinent portions (pp. 1-3, 565-589) of which are included as Excerpt tab 4 submitted with this brief. It is requested that official notice be taken thereof. According to these Guides, pain "is the most common cause of disability...." (Guides, p. 567). "Pain is subjective. Its presence cannot be readily validated or objectively measured." (*Ibid.*, p. 566). Thus, "[p]hysicians need to use their clinical judgment as to what constitutes normal or expected pain in conditions that produce widely variable amounts of pain...." (*Id.*). These Guides further state: "Pain is an essential determinant in the incapacitation of many individuals who undergo impairment evaluations." (*Ibid.*, p. 567). They

also cite with approval the following observation by the Institute of Medicine Committee on Pain and Disability and Chronic Illness Behavior:

"The notion that all impairments should be verifiable by objective evidence ... is fundamentally at odds with a realistic understanding of how disease and injury incapacitate people. Except for a few conditions ... most diseases ... do not prevent people from working by mechanical failure. Rather, people are incapacitated by a variety of unbearable sensations when they try to work."

The Guides further state in the conclusion of the "Pain" chapter (Chapter 18), the following:

(Id.).

"The assessment of pain-related impairment constitutes a substantial challenge, as it is the most common reason for disability, the most subjective, and perhaps the most multifaceted. Equitable quantification of impairment requires attention to subjective experiences of pain and emotional distress, as well as reports of behavioral impairment, all of which can only be confirmed indirectly. At times, it seems to present the dilemma of being too difficult to perform and too essential to omit."

(Guides, p. 586). As explained in this chapter, when the rating of an impairment under the conventional chapters (Chapters 3-17), adequately captures the functional loss, then the pertinent chapter should be used exclusively. (*Ibid.*, p. 570). Otherwise, the procedures described in the "Pain" chapter should be used to determine if a pain related assessment should be performed and, if so, to evaluate the extent of additional loss of function that is warranted by consideration of pain. (*Ibid.*, p. 573).

Postulating these Guides as a paradigm of accepted medical practice, it is clear that both Dr. Blount's evaluation as well as the PERS decision deviated from accepted medical practice by considering only objective medical evidence and ignoring considerations of pain. This conclusion is no reflection of Dr. Blount. He merely complied with the PERS charter letter of December 21, 2007 commissioning him to perform the Independent Medical Examination of Ms. McDonnell that repeatedly states that any disability determination must be based on "objective

medical evidence." (R. 20). PERS, on the other hand, cannot justify its deviation. Certainly the enabling statute does not provide for the exclusion of pain considerations or other subjective medical evidence in disability determinations by PERS. It provides that an employee eligible for retirement:

"may be retired by the Board ... provided that the ... Board, after the evaluation of medical evidence, ... certifies that the [employee] is mentally or physically incapacitated for the further performance of duty, that the incapacity is likely to be permanent, and that the [employee] should be retired."

MCA Sec. 25-11-113(1)(a). This same provision defines disability as "the inability to perform the usual duties of employment." (*Id.*) The use of the terms "incapacitated" and "inability to perform" in this statute connotes the loss of functional which, in some cases, as here, cannot be proved by objective evidence alone. Thus, it cannot be said that the enabling statute mandates the exclusion of subjective medical evidence of pain in disability determinations by PERS. To the contrary, the language of that statute supports the conclusion that pain should be considered in PERS disability determinations because "pain", according to the Guides, is recognized as "an essential determinant in the incapacitation of many individuals."

PERS, thus far, has made no claim before this Court or the lower Court that it has statutory authority to impose this "objective medical evidence" standard. Instead, PERS asserts in Appellee's Brief before the lower Court that it has such authority under its procedural rules. Thus, it is stated at page 20 of Appellee's Brief before the lower Court that PERS' authority to impose this standard lies in the agency interpretation of Chapter 42, Sec. 108(3) authorizing: "Hearing Officers to excluded evidence … lacking in probative value ….". This rule is a gatekeeping rule and cannot serve as authority to disregard evidence that is admitted into the record. Presumably such evidence is probative and it is incumbent upon the agency adjudicators to consider all such evidence that is not otherwise excluded by some other evidentiary rule.

Furthermore, agency authority to promulgate rules and regulations is confined to promulgating those implementing its statutory authority. To promulgate a rule that is inconsistent with an agency's statutory authority would be a usurpation of statutory authority. Thus, this bootstrap argument cannot prevail. Finally, subjective evidence of pain in disability determinations is, in fact, probative evidence on both the issue of impairment severity and its disabling effects notwithstanding PERS' erroneous conclusion to the contrary.

Nevertheless, PERS found Ms. McDonnell's ankle impairment to be "not severe" by disregarding physical restrictions by three treating physicians that took into consideration Ms. McDonnell's pain in favor of Dr. Blount's evaluation that did not consider Ms. McDonnell's pain. The stated reason for this preference was that the latter was: "the most objective evidence." PERS also listed as one of the reasons for rejecting the opinion of Dr. Leavengood: "And pain is subjective." (R. 23).

Thus, the imposition of the "objective medical evidence" standard by PERS is not only contrary to accepted to medical practice but it also exceeds the agency's authority. Therefore, it is an *ultra vires* assertion of authority by the agency. The result of imposing this standard is to prejudice claimants such as Mrs. McDonnell by requiring them to undergo the expense and delays entailed in pursuing their judicial appeals. It also results in the needless expenditure of scarce judicial resources in considering those appeals. The most egregious result is that countless meritorious claims have been unjustly denied but not appealed due to the claimants' lack of resources.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT WAS CORRECT IN FINDING THAT THERE WAS NO SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE THAT MS. MCDONNELL WAS NOT DISABLED.

The Circuit Court's decision that there was no substantial evidence to support the PERS' decision to deny Ms. McDonnell disability should be upheld. The Circuit Court, after evaluating what the Court described as "the overwhelming evidence", correctly found that PERS presented no evidence to the contrary that Ms. McDonnell was unable to perform her teaching duties because of her ankle pain. (R. 12). Thus, the Court properly reversed PERS' finding that Ms. McDonnell was not entitled to disability.

Ms. McDonnell had the burden to prove her condition is disabling pursuant to the enabling statute. *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dishmon*, 797 So.2d 888, 893 (Miss. 2001). Ms. McDonnell has met this burden by presenting evidence from her three treating physicians who opined that she was unable to stand/walk sufficiently to perform her job duties as described in her job description due to the osteoarthritis of her ankles. (R. 164, 172, 181). This condition causes her significant pain as well as swelling, tenderness, effusion, and erythema about the ankles. (R. 37-44, 90-1, 112-13). Dr. Jordan restricted her to no prolonged standing or walking more than 20 minutes. (R. 181). The other two physicians, Drs. Burwell and Leavengood, assessed her as being able to stand/walk less than two hours during the workday. (R. 240, 244). Since her job description specifies that she is required to stand/walk 95% of the day, and her employer certified that those activities were continuous (R. 76-7), this medical evidence is sufficient to establish entitlement to disability which is defined in the enabling statute as "the inability to perform the usual duties of employment." MCA Sec. 11-25-113(1)(a).

This conclusion is buttressed by the final decision dated December 17, 2009 by an Administrative Law Judge of the Social Security Administration wherein it is held that Ms.

McDonnell does not have the functional capacity to stand and walk as required to perform her teaching job and that she is permanently and totally disabled. This decision is set forth as Excerpt tab 5 accompanying this brief. It is requested that this Court take official notice of that decision.

It is note worthy to observe at this point that Ms. McDonnell's credibility is not as issue. The fact finders found her to be "sincere witness" and observed that they had "no reason to doubt that Ms. McDonnell has ankle pain." (R. 22, 23).

In reviewing the PERS decision, it is the reviewing courts job to determine "whether PERS has presented substantial evidence to support its finding that the claimant is not disabled."
Public Employees' Retirement System v. Henderson, 867 So.2d 262, 264 (Miss. App. 2003)

(citing Doyle v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 808 So.2d 902, 905 (Miss. 2002)); Public
Employees' Retirement System v. Dishmon, 17 So.3d 87, 93 (Miss. 2009). Here, the Circuit
Court found that PERS had not presented any evidence to support that Ms. McDonnell was not
disabled from performing her teaching duties. (R.12). This finding is based on the lack of
evidence presented by PERS negating the opinion evidence from the three treating physicians
that Ms. McDonnell had significant pain emanating form her ankles that limited her capacity to
continuously stand/walk as her job required. (Id.).

The only evidence presented by PERS to refute the evidence of a disabling condition was the opinion of Dr. Blount, the independent medical examiner employed by PERS. Dr. Blount opinioned that Ms. McDonnell was "not at risk for continuing her job with her description outline on Form 6-B. Tolerances is in question and it would be her choice if she wanted to stop teaching." (R. 113). As essentially confirmed by Dr. Leavengood who responded to Dr. Blount's opinion, the latter's opinion is that Ms. McDonnell's performance of her job duties

entailing almost constant standing/walking will not exacerbate her ankle condition but that tolerance to the resulting pain is the question. (R. 87). In other words, Ms. McDonnell can continue her job duties if she can tolerate the pain. Thus, Dr. Blount's opinion is equivocal on the crucial issue of whether Ms. McDonnell's ankle pain incapacitates her.

Dr. Blount's opinion is equivocal because it is not inconsistent with the opinions of three treating physicians that Ms. McDonnell does not have the functional capacity to stand/walk of sufficient duration to perform her job duties. Dr. Blount frames the issue by stating "tolerance is in question" but did not address that issue. (R. 113). In contrast the three treating physicians addressed that issue and opined that her pain limited her standing/walking to significantly less than required to perform her job. (R. 182, 240, 244). While there is a difference of opinion between Dr. Blount and the treating physicians, these opinions are mutually exclusive in that they address the presence or absence of different disability causes. One does not negate the other.

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